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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This Document contains disclosures as required by the Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards (NCRF) comprised in the Portuguese Accounting Standardization System (SNC), relating to 2021.
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1. THE COMPANY
The Bondalti Group (“Group”), which is designated by the parent company Bondalti 
Capital, S.A. is headquartered in Lisbon and was incorporated on May 19, 1997. Bondalti 
Capital’s corporate purpose is to provide consultancy in the economic, financial, and 
human resources areas, the management of companies, the provision of services of 
any nature, as well as the performance of all related operations.

Bondalti Capital is currently the holding company of a group of companies operating 
in Portugal and Spain in three different activities:

°  Chemicals - production and sale of industrial chemicals

°  Real estate - purchase and sale of real estate;

°  Water Treatment – production and sale of water treatment products and technology

The parent company of the Bondalti Group is José de Mello Capital, S.A., with registered 
office in Lisbon. 

2.  BASES OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

 
The Group prepares its accounts according to the Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Standards (NCRF) which form an integral part of the SNC (Portuguese accounting 
system).

There were no derogations to providing a true and appropriate image.

Financial statements for 2021 and 2020 were prepared using principles consistent with 
those used in the previous year, therefore all balance sheet and profit and loss captions 
are comparable with those of the previous year.

3. MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
3.1 - Measurement bases used in the preparation of the financial statements:
The financial statements were prepared on the ongoing concern and accrual basis of 
accounting, consistency of presentation, materiality and aggregation, offsetting, and 
comparative information.

Based on provisions in the NCFR, the accounting policies followed by the Company 
were as follows:

(a) Tangible Fixed Assets
Os ativos fixos tangíveis referem-se a bens utilizados na produção, na prestação de 
Tangible fixed assets refer to assets used in production, rendering of services or for 
administrative purpose.

The Group adopted the deemed cost in the measurement of tangible fixed assets as 
of 1 January 2009 (date of transition to the NCRF), pursuant to the exemption provided 
in NCFR 3 - First time adoption of NCFR. The Group adopted as deemed cost the 
amount recorded in the former financial statements prepared according to the former 
accounting standards (POC), which included revaluation reserves carried out pursuant 
to various decree-laws that took into account currency devaluation coefficients.

With the exception of land, which does not depreciate, tangible fixed assets are 
subject to depreciation over the expected economic useful life, and they are assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be in impairment. 
Depreciation is determined on a twelfth basis as of the moment the assets become 
available for their intended use, in accordance with the straight-line method. The 
following depreciation rates are used:

 Buildings and other constructions 

 Transport equipment 

 Other tangible fixed assets 

 Basic equipment 

 Administrative equipment 

20202021

 2.00 - 33.33

 6.25 - 25.00 

 12.5 - 20.00 

 5.00 - 50.00 

 5.88 - 50.00 

 2.00 - 33.33 

 6.25 - 25.00 

 12.5 - 20.00 

 5.00 - 50.00

 5.88 - 50.00 
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Depreciation costs are recognised on the Profit and Loss Statement under the heading 
“Depreciation and amortization (Expenses/Reversal)”.

Tangible fixed asset dismantling and removal costs, and site restoring where these 
are located, the obligation of which is incurred when assets are acquired, or as a 
consequence of having been used for a certain period for purposes other than 
inventory production, form part of the corresponding tangible fixed asset cost and are 
depreciated over the useful life period of the assets in question.

Current maintenance and repair costs are recognised as expenses in the period they 
occur.

Replacement and major repair costs are capitalised, provided that they increase the 
useful life of the fixed asset to which they relate and are depreciated over the remaining 
useful life period of the fixed asset or its own useful life period, if shorter.

Any gain or loss resulting from the derecognition of a tangible asset (calculated as 
the difference between the sale price, less the costs of sale and accounting value) is 
included in the profit and loss account of the financial year during which the asset is 
derecognised.

Tangible fixed assets in progress concern goods which are still under construction or 
development and are measured at acquisition cost, and they can only be depreciated 
when they will become available for use.

At the end of each year the company assesses any possible impairment in assets, which 
if any, will be recognised in the profit and loss statement for the year.

(b) Investment Property
The Group adopted considered cost in the measurement of tangible fixed assets 
referring to 1 January 2009 (transition to the NCRF), under the terms of the exemption 
provided in NCRF 3 – First Adoption of the NCRF. Deemed cost resulted from an 
assessment made as of the said date by independent and qualified auditors. 
Subsequently, the Group adopted the cost model in the measurement of investment 
property.

Depreciation is determined on a twelfth basis as of the moment the assets become 
available for their intended use, in accordance with the straight-line method. 
Depreciation rates used are as follows:

(c) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost on the initial recognition 
date.

Internally generated costs of intangible assets, excluding development costs under 
certain circumstances, are considered as an expense, and are shown on the profit and 
loss accounts for the year in which the expense is incurred.

After initial recognition, intangible assets are presented at cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite or indefinite. Intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested annually for impairment, 
regardless of whether or not there are indicators that they may be impaired. Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are amortised over their expected life span, and they 
are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. Amortizations of Intangible Assets are shown on the Statement of Results by 
Nature, on the line entitled “Depreciation and Amortization Expenses/Reversal”.

The criteria described in line a) tangible fixed assets, are used to determine the 
impairment of these assets.

 Buildings and other constructions 

20202021

 2.00 - 10.00  2.00 - 10.00 
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Amortizations are calculated on a twelfth basis, using the straight-line method. The 
following amortization rates are used:

Any gain or loss resulting from derecognition of an intangible asset is included in the 
profit and loss accounts for the financial year in which the asset is derecognised.

Some specific aspects relating to each type of intangible asset are shown below.

(c.1) Development projects
Research costs are recognised as expenses in the period they occur. 

Development costs of an individualised product are recognised as intangible assets 
when the Group can demonstrate the following:

°  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset, such that it is available 
for use or sale;

°  Its intention to complete the intangible asset and ensure that it meets the conditions 
for its usage or sale;

°  How the asset will generate future economic benefits;

°  The availability of resources to complete the asset;

°  The capacity to reliably measure expenditure during development.

(c.2) Computer software
This caption includes computer software purchased to third parties.

Internal costs associated with the maintenance and development of computer 
programs are recognised as expenses when incurred, as it is considered that they 
cannot be reliably measured and/or will not generate future economic benefits.

(c.3) Industrial Property
This heading shows patents registered in the names of companies included in the 
consolidation, for which exclusive usage rights are held.

Amortization is calculated during the exclusive usage period of each patent.

(c.4) Emission rights
CO2 emission rights awarded to the Company under the scope of the National CO2 
Emissions License Allocation Plan and are recognised in accordance with NCRF 26, 
that is under the heading Intangible Assets charged against Other Changes in Equity 
- Subsidies and Donations, at the market value on the allocation date.

Acquired licenses are recognised under Intangible Assets charged against the 
corresponding account payable or availability account.

A Depreciation and Amortization expense is recognised against the Accumulated 
Amortisations of Intangible Assets, for CO2 emissions made by the Company, based 
on the FIFO criteria. An amount equivalent to the reduction in the corresponding share 
of the subsidy is simultaneously transferred to Other Revenue and Gains, against 
Subsidies and Donations.

Whenever the Company emits CO2 without holding the respective licenses, a provision 
is recognised under the terms of NCRF 21 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets. 
The contingent amount corresponds to the best price estimate to obtain it, plus the 
estimate amount of penalties that will be incurred for emitting the CO2 without a license.

Sales of emission rights lead to a gain or loss ascertained based on the realisable 
value and the respective cost of acquisition, which is recorded under Other Income 
and Gains - Income and Gains from Non-Financial Investments and other Expenses and 
Losses - Expenses and Losses in Non-Financial Investments, respectively. 

As there is an active market for emission rights, they are re-valued at market value at 
the end of each period, and the Equity - Subsidies and Donations or the profit and loss 
account is adjusted simultaneously, depending on whether the licenses are granted 
or acquired, respectively.

 Development projects 

 Industrial property 

 Other intangible assets 

 Software 

 Goodwill 

20202021

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

33.33

 10.00 

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

33.33

-
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(d) Equity Holdings – Equity method
Investments in associates are valued according to the equity method.

On the investment acquisition date, the difference between the cost of the investment 
and the Group’s share in the identifiable fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquired investment was accounted for in accordance with NCRF 14 - 
Concentrations of Business Activities. Therefore:

°  Related goodwill was included under the intangible assets item, and amortised, under 
the terms of NCRF 6, over the period of its useful life (or in 10 years if its useful life 
cannot be reliably estimated). 

 
After the acquisition date, the carrying value of the investments:

°  was increased or decreased to recognise investee shares in results after the date 
of acquisition;

°  was decreased by the earnings distribution received;

°  was increased or decreased to reflect, against Equity, changes to the Group’s 
proportional interest in stakes resulting from changes in the equity of the stakes in 
question that were not recognised in the respective income statement. Among other 
situations, these changes include those resulting from the Revaluation of Tangible 
Fixed Assets and from differences in foreign currency exchange rate. 

The following provisions regarding the application of this method were also followed 
when measuring these investments:

°  The financial statements of the investees were prepared, or adjusted outside the 
accounts, in order to reflect the Group’s accounting policies before being used to 
determine the effects of the equity method;

°  The investee financial statements used to determine the equity method effects are 
reported on the same date as those of the Group or, if different, there is a difference 
of no more than three months from those of the Group;

°  Results from “ascending” and “descending” transactions are only recognised to 
the extent that they correspond to the interests of other investors in the associate, 
unrelated to the investor; 

°  When the value of an investment is reduced to zero, additional losses are taken 
into account by recognising a liability whenever the Company incurs into legal or 
constructive obligations. If the investees subsequently report profits, the Group only 
recommences their recognition once its share in the profits equals the unrecognised 
share of the losses.

(e) Equity Holdings – other methods
The group uses the cost model for financial investments in non-listed entities, to which 
the equity method does not apply. 

According to the cost model, financial stakes are initially recognised at acquisition 
cost, including transaction costs. Their value is subsequently decreased by impairment 
losses, whenever they occur.

(f) Income Tax
Income tax for the year includes current and deferred taxes from the financial year.
 
(f.1) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from determining the time differences between 
the accounting bases and tax bases of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets reflect:

°  Deductible time differences, to the extent that future taxable gains are likely to exist, 
with regard to which the deductible difference may be used;

°  Unused tax losses and unused tax credits, to the extent that it is likely that future 
taxable gains will be available, against which they may be used.

Deferred tax liabilities reflect taxable time differences.

Deferred taxes relating to time differences associated with investments in associates 
and interests in joint ventures are not recognised, because it is considered that the 
following conditions are simultaneously met:

°  The Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the time difference; and

°  It is likely that the time difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities:

°  Measurements are made according to the rates expected to apply during the period 
that the asset was held, or the liability liquidated, based on the approved tax rates 
on the balance sheet date; and 

°  Measurements reflect tax consequences arising from the way in which the Group, on 
the balance sheet date, expects to recover or settle the carrying value of its assets 
and liabilities. 
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(f.2) Income tax for the year
Income tax for the year includes current and deferred taxes from the financial year.
Current tax is determined based on the accounting profit and loss, adjusted in 
accordance with current tax legislation to which each of the companies included in 
the consolidation is subject. 

The parent company and direct or indirect subsidiaries in which at least 90% of the 
respective capital is held, which are resident in Portugal and taxed under Income Tax 
and are taxed under the scope of the Special Taxation Regime for Groups of Companies 
at a rate of 21%, plus the surcharge up to the maximum rate of 6.5% of Taxable Income, 
resulting in a maximum aggregated rate of 27.5.

Income tax relating to the rest of the companies included in the consolidation is 
calculated at the current rates in the countries where respective registered offices 
are located:

Under the terms of the current legislation in the different jurisdictions in which the 
companies included in the consolidation carry out their activities, the corresponding 
tax returns are subject to review by the tax authorities for a period that varies from 
between four to five years, which may be prolonged under certain circumstances, 
specifically when there are tax losses or inspections, claims or challenges are in 
progress.

The Board of Directors, based on the positions of its tax advisers, and considering the 
recognised responsibilities, understand that any possible reviews of these tax returns 
will not result in material corrections to the consolidated financial statements.

(g) Inventories
The assessment of inventories and respective costing methods are as follows:

The cost of inventories includes:

°  Average acquisition cost of the raw materials that are incorporated;

°  Purchase costs (purchase price and transport costs).
Whenever the net realizable value is lower than the purchase or conversion cost, the 
value of the inventories is reduced by recognising an impairment loss, which is reversed 
when the reasons that led to it cease to exist.

For this purpose, the net realisable value is the estimated selling prices during the 
ordinary course of the business activity, less the estimated costs of finishing and 
the costs required to make the sale. Estimates consider changes related to events 
occurring after the end of the period.

Income tax

State surcharge

Income tax

Municipal surcharge

Income tax

Country 2020 Tax2021 Tax

 Portugal 

 Portugal 

 Angola 

 Portugal 

 Spain 

21.0%

3% - 5%

25.0%

1.5%

25.0%

21.0%

3% - 5%

25.0%

1.5%

25.0%

Goods

Finished and semi finished products

(*) Net realizable value, whichever the lower

Raw materials, subsidiary materials and 
consumables

Works in progress

Valuation methodsValuation

Acquisition cost (*)

Production cost (*)

Acquisition cost (*)

Production cost (*)

Average cost

Average cost

Average cost

Average cost
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(h) Other financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the companies included in the consolidation 
become a party to the respective contractual relationship.

Financial assets not included in previous items, and not valued at fair value, are valued 
at cost or at amortised cost net of impairment losses, where applicable.

The group assesses the impairment of these assets at the end of the year. Whenever 
there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group recognises and impairment loss 
on the profit and loss statement.

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets could be in impairment 
takes into account observable data that can call attention to the following loss events.

°  The debtor being in significant financial difficulty;

°  Breach of contract, such as non-payment or default on interest payments or 
repayment of debt;

°  For economic or legal reasons related to the debtor’s financial difficulty, the 
companies included in the consolidation offer concessions to the debtor that they 
would not otherwise consider;

°  It is likely that the debtor will go into bankruptcy or any other type of financial 
reorganisation;

°  Observable information indicating that has been a measured decrease in future cash 
flow estimates of a group of financial assets, since their initial recognitions.

Individually significant financial assets were assessed individually for the purposes 
of impairment. All other financial assets were assessed based on similar credit risk 
characteristics.

Some specific aspects relating to each type of financial asset are shown below:

(h.1) Clients
During the initial recognition, accounts receivable form clients are measured according 
to the Sales and Services Provided measurement criteria described in line q) and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost less impairment.

Impairment is determined based on criteria defined in line h).

(h.2) Other accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable is valued as follows:

°  Personnel - at cost less impairment;

°  Receivables from accrued income - at cost;

°  Other debtors - at cost less impairment;

°  Loans to shareholders do not bear interest or have any implicit interest rate, so 
they are presented at their respective nominal value, less impairment losses, where 
applicable.

In both cases, impairment is determined based on criteria defined in line h).

(h.3) Cash and bank deposits
The amounts included in this item correspond to the amounts of cash and other 
deposits, which mature in less than three months and can be mobilised immediately 
with an insignificant risk of change in value.

These balances are measured as follows:

°  Cash - at cost;

°  Deposits without defined maturity - at cost;

°  Other deposits with defined maturity - at amortised cost, determined based on the 
effective interest rate method.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the “Cash and cash equivalents” caption 
includes any bank overdrafts included under the “Loans” caption, as well as cash and 
bank deposits”.

(i) State and other public entities
The active and passive balances of this item are ascertained based on current 
legislation.

No impairment whatsoever was recognised for assets, as it is not considered to apply 
due to the specific nature of the relationship.
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(j) Deferred assets and liabilities
This item reflects transactions and other events the full recognition of which is 
not appropriate in the profit and loss of the year in which they occur but should be 
recognised in the profit and loss of future years.

(l) Equity captions
(l.1) Legal Reserves
According to art. 295 of the Portuguese Trading Companies Code (CSC), at least 5% 
of Net Income must be allocated to setting-up or increasing the legal reserve, until at 
least 20% of the share capital is represented.

The legal reserve cannot be distributed, except in cases of liquidation, and may only be 
used to absorb losses once all other reserves have been exhausted, or for inclusion in 
the share capital (art. 296 of the CSC).

(l.2) Other reserves
This item includes reappraisal reserves made under the terms of previous GAAP on the 
date of transition, net of any corresponding deferred taxes, and that are not presented 
in the “Revaluation Surplus”, due to the fact that the entity adopted the considered cost 
method on the SNC conversion date.

Revaluation reserves made by law, according to the legislation in question, are only 
available to increase capital or to cover losses incurred up until the date on which the 
reappraisal is reported, and only after being paid in (for use or sale).

This also includes reserves resulting from a reappraisal on the transition date, which 
will only be available for distribution after being paid in (for use or for sale).

(l.3) Retained earnings
This item includes the realised results that are available for distribution to shareholders 
and gains due to increases in the fair value of derivative financial instruments, financial 
investments, and investment properties that, according to item 2. of art. 32 of the CSC, 
will only be available for distribution when the elements or rights that led to them are 
divested, exercised, terminated, or liquidated.

(l.4) Adjustments and other changes in equity
This caption includes fair value adjustments of financial assets, such as changes in 
the fair value of derivatives used to manage risk of changes in interest rate, exchange 
rate risk, risk of prices of goods under a commitment or a high likelihood of a future 
transaction which, according to no. 2 of art. 32 of the CSC, will only be available for 
distribution when the elements or rights that led to them are divested exercised, 
terminated or liquidated.

This also includes adjustments concerning the application of the equity method, specifically 
the appropriation of changes to the equity of investees and unallocated profits.

Other changes in equity include:

(l.4.1) Investment subsidies
Subsidies are recognised when there is reasonable certainty that the Group has 
complied/will comply with the associated conditions and that the subsidy will be 
received.

This account is reduced following the initial recognition as follows:

°  Subsidies relating to tangible fixed assets subject to depreciation, and intangible 
assets with a defined useful life, are reduced by systematic allocation to revenue for 
the necessary periods to balance subsidies with the related expenses that they are 
intended to compensate for;

°  Tangible fixed assets not subject to depreciation, and intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life are reduced by allocation to revenue during any year where it is 
necessary to compensate for any impairment loss recognised regarding the assets 
concerned.

These subsidies are not available for distribution until they are assigned to revenue 
during the periods necessary to: (i) balance the subsidies against related costs that 
these are intended to compensate for, i.e., amortizations and depreciations and/or (ii) 
to compensate for any impairment loss that maybe recognised in relation to the assets 
in question.

(l.4.2) Emission rights
These reserves, corresponding to Emission Rights given and recognised as provided 
in sub-paragraph c.4) above are transferred to Other income and gains as the 
corresponding CO2 emissions are made by the group companies. 
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According to sub-paragraph 2 of article 32 of the CC, these reserves will only be 
available for distribution when the underlying rights will be sold, exercised, extinguished, 
or liquidated.

(m) Provisions 
This caption reflects the Group’s legal and constructive obligations arising from past 
events, whose liquidation is expected to result in an outflow of resources from the 
entity, including economic benefits, with uncertain timing and amounts, but whose 
value can be reliably estimated.

This item includes the following provisions, among others:

°  Provisions for tangible fixed asset dismantling and removal costs, and for site 
restoration costs where localised, the obligation of which is incurred when assets are 
acquired, or as a consequence of having been used for a certain period for purposes 
other than inventory production.

(n) Post-employment benefit and staff cost responsibilities
Personnel expenses are recognised when the service is provided by employees, 
regardless of their payment date.

Some specific aspects relating to each benefit are shown below:

(n.1) Post-employment benefits
The group has the post-employment benefit plans indicated on the following table:

Under the terms of the Social Benefits Regulation in force in the group, certain 
employees on the permanent workforce are entitled, after retirement, to a share of 
health care expenses and a pension supplement for old age, disability or survival. Years 
of service are considered when calculating these supplements and contributions, as 
well as their perks in the company that originally employed them.  

In the defined benefit plans, responsibilities are recognised and measured in 
accordance with NCRF 28 - Employee Benefits.

Under these terms, the cost of providing benefits is determined as follows:

°  Separately for each plan;

°  Using the projected credit unit method;

°  Based on actuarial assumptions in force in Portugal.

The cost of past services of current employees is recognised: (i) immediately, as 
concerns the share already due, and (ii) on a straight-line basis over the remaining 
period of service, as concerns the share not yet due. 

(n.2) Holiday Pay and Holiday Bonus
According to the law in force, employees are entitled to holiday pay and holiday bonus 
in the following year to which the service is provided. Hence, the company recognised 
in the profit and loss statement for the year an amount payable in the following year, 
which is recorded in caption “Other Debts Payable”.

(o) Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised when the companies included in the consolidation 
become a party to the contractual relationship.

(o.1) Loans
Loans covered by variable interest rate hedges are recorded at amortised cost 
determined based on the effective interest rate. According to this method, loans are 
initially recognised as liabilities at the amount received, net of issuing costs, which 
corresponds to the respective fair value at that date. Subsequently, loans are measured 
according to the amortised cost method, which includes all financial expenses 
calculated according to the effective interest rate method.

Other loans are measured at cost and recognised as liabilities at their nominal value.

Addressees Location TypeCompany Name of Plan

 Defined benefit - 
Pension supplement for 

old age, disability and 
survival 

 Defined benefit - 
Healthcare plan without 

provided fund 

Bondalti 
Chemicals

Bondalti 
Chemicals

 Retirement 
Pension Plans 

 Healthcare Plan 

 Some of 
the former 

and present 
employees 

 Some of 
the former 

and present 
employees 

 Portugal 

 Portugal 
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(o.2) Trade payables, Cash receipts from customers and Other creditors
These items are measured at cost.

(o.3) Shareholders
Shareholders loans do not accrue interest or involve any type of interest; therefore, 
they are stated at respective nominal value, in caption “Other debts payable”, minus 
any impairment loss where applicable, determined based on the criteria provided in 
sub-paragraph o).

(o.4) Other Financial liabilities
This caption includes financial instruments held for sale and the negative fair value 
of derivative financial instruments which, although contracted in accordance with 
the Group’s risk management policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting whether 
because they were not formally designated for that purpose or simply because they are 
not efficient hedges in accordance with the conditions established NCRF 27 and IAS 39.

Other financial liabilities include:

°  Non efficient part of hedging derivatives;

°  Non-hedging derivatives;

°  Other liabilities held for trading.

These are measured at fair value and changes in the fair value are recognised in the 
income statement for the period.

(o.5) Leases
Lease contracts are classified as finance lease if it substantially transfers all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee.

Fixed assets acquired under finance lease contracts as well as the corresponding 
liabilities are recorded in accordance with the financial method, where fixed assets, 
corresponding accumulated depreciation and liabilities are recognised in accordance 
with the contracted financial plan. In addition, the interest included in the lease 
instalments and depreciation of the tangible fixed assets are recognised as expenses 
in the statement of profit and loss for the year concerned.

In the case of operating leases, lease instalments are recognised as expenses on 
a straight-line basis in the statement of profit and loss over the period of the lease contract.

(p) Effect of changes in exchange rate
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Euro at the date of transaction.

Balances due at the end of the period are translated at closing rate and the difference 
is recognised in the income statement.
 
(q) Sales and services
Sales and rendered services are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, minus the amounts relating to trade discount for multiple 
purchase/orders.

Where the selling price of products/services includes an identifiable amount of 
subsequent services, such amount is deferred and recognised as revenue in the period 
in which the service is provided.

Although revenue is only recognised when it is probable that any future economic 
benefit associated with the item of revenue will flow to the company, when there 
is doubt as to the recoverability of an amount already recognised as revenue, the 
irrecoverable amount, or the amount unlikely to be recovered, will be recognised as 
impairment and not as an adjustment to the revenue amount initially recognised.

The recognition of sales and rendered services is subject to specific features, amongst 
which the following:

(q.1) Sales
Revenue arising from the sale of goods should be recognised when all of the following 
criteria have been satisfied:

°  the seller has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership;

°  the seller retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

°  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

°  it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to 
the seller; and

°  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect to the transaction can be measured 
reliably.
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(q.2) Rendered Services
Revenue arising from rendered services is recognised when the result of the transaction 
can be reliably estimated, which occurs when all of the following criteria are met:

°  The amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

°  It is likely that the economic benefits associated to the transactions will flow to the 
Group;

°  the costs incurred, or to be incurred, in respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably;

The stage of completion is determined based on the proportion of the costs incurred 
so far on total estimated costs of the rendering of the services (relating to rendered 
services or services to be rendered).

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, the Group recognises it 
according to the nil profit method. According to this method, total costs incurred are 
recognised as expenses for the period combined with equivalent revenues, and no 
profit is recognised.

Progressive payments and cash receipts from clients are not taken into account for 
determining the completion percentage, not even according to the null profit method.

(r) Operating subsidies
São reconhecidos nesta rubrica os subsídios não reembolsáveis que não estejam 
relacionados com ativos e apenas quando existe uma segurança razoável de que 
o Grupo cumpriu/irá cumprir com as condições a ele associadas e que o subsídio será 
recebido. 

(s) Interest and similar expenses
Financing costs are recognised in the income statement for the period to which they 
relate and include:

°  Interest paid determined based on the effective interest rate method;

°  Interest of interest rate hedging instruments and raw materials (swaps).

Costs incurred on loans obtained directly to finance the acquisition, construction or 
production of tangible fixed assets are capitalised as part of the cost of the assets. 

Such costs are capitalised as from the beginning of the preparation for construction or 
development of the assets and end upon termination of the production or construction 
of the asset or when the project in question is suspended.

(t) Hedging instruments
Only the effective part of derivatives designated as such are considered as financial 
hedging instruments, when the entity expects that the changes to the fair value or cash 
flows of the hedged item, attributable to the hedged risk, will practically compensate 
for changes to the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument.

In the absence of guidelines detailed in NCRF 27 - “Financial instruments” on methods 
used to test and document the effectiveness of the hedge, the Group follows the 
applicable provisions of IAS 39 - Financial instruments.

Changes to the fair value of derivative instruments to hedge fixed interest rate risks, or 
the risk of price of goods that are held, as well as changes to the fair value of the asset 
or liability subject to that risk, are recognised in the profit and loss accounts under the 
“Fair value increases/reduction” caption.

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments of floating interest rate risk, foreign 
exchange risk, commodity price risk resulting from firm commitment or highly probable 
transaction are recognised in equity under caption “adjustments to financial assets” 
as concerns their effective part and in the income statement in caption “Increase/
decrease at fair value” as concerns their ineffective part. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument matures, is sold, or 
exercised, or when the hedging relationship ceases to comply with the requirements 
NCRF 27 - Financial Instruments, under the terms specified in of IAS 39 - financial 
instruments.

The effective part of the hedging instruments is included in the balance sheet under 
“Loans”.

(u) Contingent assets and liabilities
A contingent asset is a possible asset arising from past events the existence of which 
will depend on whether some uncertain future event will occur which are not entirely 
under company’s control and therefore are not recognised. However, they are disclosed 
when a future inflow is likely to occur.
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A Contingent Liability is:

°  A possible obligation arising from past events the existence of which will depend 
on whether some uncertain future event occurs which are not entirely under the 
company’s control,

or 

°  A present obligation as a result of past events but which is not recognised as:
   an outflow of resources is not likely to be required to settle the obligation; or
  the amount of the obligation cannot be reasonably quantified.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised. However, they are disclosed when there is a 
probability of future outflows which is not remote.

(v) Conversion of the FS in foreign currency
The results and financial position of the entity whose functional currency differs from 
the Euro are translated into the measurement currency using the following procedures:
 a)  Non-monetary items were translated using the exchange rate at the date of 

the transaction;
 b)  Monetary items were translated using the closing rate at the date of the 

balance sheet;
 c)  Income and expenses in each financial statement were translated using the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
 d)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component 

of equity.

(x) Subsequent events
Events that occur after the balance sheet date that provide additional information on 
conditions that existed as of the balance sheet date are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements.

3.2 - Consolidation bases
The corporate universe of the Group is made up of the subsidiaries listed in Note 5.

Joint ventures are included in the financial statements according to the proportional 
consolidation method, combining, line by line, the share in each item of assets, liabilities, 
income and gains and expenses and losses of the jointly controlled ventures with the 
similar items of the Groups financial statements.

In compliance with provisions in article 6 of Decree-law 158/2009, of 15 July, as amended 
by Decree-Law No. 98/2015, of 2 June, which approved the SNC, the entity prepares 
consolidated accounts of the Group composed by itself and all the subsidiaries in 
which:

°  Irrespective of the capital ownership, one of the following occurs:
   It can exercise or effectively exercises a controlling influence;
   It governs the business policies of both companies as though they constituted 

a single entity.

° As holder of share capital:
   It holds the majority of voting rights, except if it is proven that such rights do not 

confer control;
   It has the power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the governing 

body of the other entity with powers to govern the financial and operating policies 
of such entity;

   It exercises a controlling influence over the other entity, by virtue of a contract 
entered with such entity or any other clause in the said entity’s memorandum of 
association;

   It holds at least 20% of the voting rights and the majority of the members of the 
governing body of the other entity with the powers to govern the financial and 
operating policies of such entity who have held office during the year to which the 
consolidated financial statements refer, or in the preceding year until the moment 
these are prepared, were exclusively appointed as result of the exercise of its 
voting rights;

   It holds, alone or by virtue of an agreement with other capital holders of the other 
entity, the majority of the voting rights of the holders of this entity’s share capital.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that can currently be exercised or 
converted are considered when an appraisal is made as to whether or not control 
exists.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which 
the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date when such 
control ceases.
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Accounting policies followed by the subsidiaries and joint ventures for preparing their 
separate financial statements were altered, where necessary, to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

The purchase method is used for accounting business combinations. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured at the fair value of the delivered assets, capital instruments 
issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed on the acquisition date plus costs directly 
attributed to the acquisition.

The excess of the acquisition cost over the share of the Group in the fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities purchase is recognised as 
Goodwill. 

If the acquisition cost is lower than the said fair value, the difference is recognised 
directly in the income statement for the year it is determined, after reassessing the 
identification process and measuring of the fair value of the liabilities and contingent 
liabilities.

In the consolidation process, transactions, balances and non-realised gains in intra-
group transactions and dividend distributed amongst group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of loss 
through the impairment of the assets being transferred.

Provisions in NCRF 25 - Income Tax were applied for temporary differences arising from 
the elimination of results deriving from intra-group transactions.

Equity and net profit of subsidiaries which are held by other than the Group are 
recorded in Non-controlling Interests captions of the Balance Sheet (separately under 
equity) and in the consolidated income statement, respectively. On the date of each 
business combination, the amounts attributable to minorities are determined using the 
shareholding percentage held by them at the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
and contingent liabilities acquired.

Where losses attributed to minority shareholders exceed the minority interest in 
shareholders’ equity of the subsidiary, the Group absorbs such excess and any 
additional losses, except where the minority shareholders are required to and can cover 
such losses. Where the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the Group appropriates 
them up to the amount of the losses absorbed by the Group.
 
3.3 -  Main judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the financial 

statements
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements according to the ASS, the 
Board of Directors of the Group uses judgements, estimates and assumptions which 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts. 

Estimates and judgements are continuously assessed and are based on experiences 
of past events and other factors, including expectations regarding future events 
considered likely due to the circumstances, where estimates are based on or are 
the result of acquired information or experience. Real effects may differ from the 
judgements and estimates that are made, specifically regarding the impact of costs 
and profits that actually occur.

The most significant accounting estimates reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follows:

(a) Useful life of tangible and intangible fixed assets
The useful life of an asset is the estimated period of during which an asset subject to 
depreciation is judged to be productive in a business and should be reviewed at least 
at the end of each economic year.

The amortisation/depreciation method applicable and estimated losses arising 
from replacing the equipment before the end of their useful life, due to technology 
obsolescence, is crucial to determine the effective life of an asset.

These parameters are defined according to the management’s best estimate for the 
assets and businesses concerned, considering the practices adopted by companies 
in the sector where the Company operates.
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(b) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all recoverable losses to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised.

Taking into account the effect that this may have on future results, the Board of 
Directors must make a judgement to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised, taking the following into account:

°  The date and likely amount of future taxable gains, and

°  Future tax planning strategies.

(c) Provisions for tax
The Group, based on the opinion of its tax consultants and taking into account 
recognised liabilities, believes that any possible reviews of these tax returns will not 
result in material corrections to the consolidated financial statements that would 
require the constitution of any provisions for tax.

(d) Fair value of financial instruments
When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
balance sheet cannot be determined on active markets, it will be determined based on 
valuation techniques including discounted cash flows and other adequate techniques 
under the circumstances. The inputs for these techniques will be withdrawn, where 
possible, from market variables, but if not possible, a certain degree of judgement will 
be required to determine the fair value, including considerations on the liquidity risk, 
credit risk and volatility.

(e) Post-employment benefits
The assessment of responsibilities for retirement and health benefits granted to 
company employees is conducted on an annual basis, using actuarial studies drawn up 
by independent experts, based on actuarial assumptions associated with economic and 
demographic indicators. All the indicators that are used are specific to the countries 
where employee benefits are granted and include, among others:

°  Salary Growth Rate, Fund Yield Rate and Technical Interest Rate;

°  Mortality tables available for Portugal;

°  Future salary and pension increases based on expected future inflation rates for 
Portugal.

Changes in these assumptions may have a significant impact on liabilities.

(f) Development costs
Development costs are capitalised according to the accounting policy described in 
Note 3. Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgement that 
technological and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product 
development project has reached a defined milestone according to an established 
project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalised the Board 
of Directors makes assumptions regarding the expected cash flows which will be 
generated by the project, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of 
benefits.

(g) Impairment of accounts receivable
The credit risk of balances of accounts receivable is assessed on the date of each 
report, taking into account the debtor’s historical information and risk profile, as 
mentioned in paragraph 3.1.

Receivables are adjusted based on an assessment of estimated collection risks in 
existence on the balance sheet date, which may differ from the effective risk to be 
incurred in the future.
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(h) Provisions
The recognition of provisions includes determining the probability of future outflows 
and its reliable measurement.

These factors are often dependent on future events which are not always under the 
Group’s control, hence they may lead to significant adjustments in the future, via change 
in the assumptions used or the future recognition of provisions previously recorded 
as contingent liabilities.

(i) Provisions dismantling and restoring sites
Provisions for dismantling and removal of goods from the tangible fixed asset and for 
restoring the site depend on assumptions and estimates that make them sensitive to:

°  Expected cost to be incurred;

°  Foreseeable date for the occurrence of the costs;

°  Discount rate used in the discount of expected outflows.

3.4 - Changes in accounting policies
There were no changes in accounting policies in the year ended December 31, 2021.
 

4. CASH FLOWS
Caption Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Cash Flow Statement is made up as follows:

5. RELATED PARTIES

5.1 – Group entities
The Group is 100% owned by José de Mello Capital, S.A., where it presents its 
consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash  

Other bank deposits 

Bank overdrafts (Note 14.5) 

Bank deposits 

31/12/2031/12/21

 29 597 

 127 183 

 1 047 538 

 21 898 050 

 22 788 808 

 22 945 588 

 26 784 

 -   

 2 075 796 

 37 095 290 

 39 144 301 

 39 171 085 
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The subsidiaries included in the consolidation, their head offices and the proportion 
of capital held in them at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

These subsidiaries were fully consolidated according to the criteria described in Note 3.

In 2021, Renoeste signed a framework contract with two third parties (related to 
each other) that encompasses the purchase and sale of its properties and assets, as 
well as the hiring of its workers and the assignment of its contractual position in the 
concession contract that it maintains with the Portuguese State. The execution of 
this framework agreement is subject to preceding conditions that we believe will be 
verified in 2022.

The Company acquired Grupo Aguas Alfaro, one of the main Spanish operators in the 
wastewater treatment segment, a company headquartered in Alfaro, in the province 
of Rioja, Spain. The Group offers a range of engineering, construction, operation and 
maintenance solutions for process and wastewater treatment, Legionella control, 
waste and sludge treatment, supply of chemical products, laboratory analysis and 
inspections, among others.

Effective control 2021 Effective control 2020% heldGroup Location

Parent company

68.49%

-

-

-

-

-

-

100%

-

-

-

-

-

100%

-

-

100%

100%

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (“B. Capital” )

Enkrott - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, S.A. (“Enkrott SA”)

        Nutriquim - Produtos Químicos, S.A. (“Nutriquim”)

        Agua, Energia y Medioambiente, Servicios Integrales, S.L.U (“AEMA”)

Bondalti SGPS, S.A. (“B. SGPS”)

        Enkrott Madeira - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, Lda. (“Enkrott Madeira”)

        Bondalti Cantabria, S.A. (“B. Cantabria”)

        Laboratorios Alfaro, S.L.U (“LABORATORIO ALFARO”)

Bondalti Chemicals, S.A. (“B. Chemicals”) e subsidiárias:

        Enkrott África - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, Lda. (“Enkrott África”)

        Miralcalis - Ativos de Produção de Cloro S.A. (“Miralcalis”)

        Aguas Rioja Medioambiente, S.L.U (“AGUAS RIOJA”)

        Renoeste - Valorização de Recursos Naturais, S.A. (“Renoeste”)

        Enkrott España, S.L.U. (“Enkrott Espanha”)

Innovnano - Materiais Avançados, S.A. (“Innovnano”)

        Agua, Gestion y Tratamientos, Servicios Integrales, S.L. (“AGESMA”)

        Elnosa - Electroquímica del Noroeste, S.A. (“Elnosa”)

Grupo Aguas Alfaro, S.L.  (“AGUAS ALFARO”)

Dolopand - Investimentos Imobiliários e Turisticos, S.A. (“Dolopand”)

Lisbon

Sintra

Barreiro

Alfaro

Lisbon

Funchal

Torrelavega

Alfaro

Estarreja

Luanda

Porto Salvo

Alfaro

Pombal

Barcelona

Coimbra

Alfaro

Pontevedra

Alfaro

Porto Salvo

Parent company

71.22%

100%

100%

-

45.55%

100%

100%

100%

54.79%

100%

100%

100%

68.49%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

71.22%

100%

-

100%

45.55%

96% 

-

100%

54.79% 

80%

- 

100% 

68.49% 

100%

-

100%

-

100%
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The Subsidiaries included in the consolidation by the equity method, their registered 
offices and proportions of capital held on 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:  

Enkrott Química de Cabo Verde has been without activity in recent years.

5.2 – Transactions and balances between related parties
The nature of the relationship with related parties is as follows:

As of 31 December 2021, and 2020 balances with these entities were made up as 
follows:

Effective control 2021 Effective control 2020% heldAssociates Location

-

-

AQP - Aliada Quimica Portugal, Lda (“AQP”)

Enkrott Quimica Cabo Verde

Estarreja

Cidade da Praia

49.9%

34.25%

49.9%

34.25%

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

Imposto Sobre o Rendimento (ID)

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas 
e Equipamentos, S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

EFACEC Engenharia e Sistemas S.A.

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene 
e Saúde no Trabalho, S.A.

Nature of relationship 
(services it provides / 

transactions it provides)
Related party 

Nature of relationship 
(services received / 

transactions it receives)

Bond loan / loan

Information services Equipment 
maintenance

Consultancy services

Sale of transformers

Medical benefits

Sale of office material and 
fixed assets

Internal events

Engineering services

Occupational medicine 
services

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e Equipamentos, S.A.

EFACEC Engenharia e Sistemas S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no Trabalho, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em Manutenção, S.A.

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

Sales / ServicesCompanies Purchases Goods / 
Services

-

-

-

-

-

 231 417 

-

-

-

 231 417 

 4 512 

 153 384 

 15 603 

 12 809 

 10 360 

-

 933 315 

 186 053 

 13 685 

 1 325 209 

2021
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As of 31 December 2021, and 2020, balances with these entities were made up as 
follows:

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e Equipamentos, S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no Trabalho, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em Manutenção, S.A.

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

Sales / ServicesCompanies Purchases Goods / 
Services

-

-

-

-

 229 097 

-

-

-

 229 097 

 4 131 

 29 454 

 82 446 

 4 893 

-

 970 725 

 191 318 

 13 915 

 1 292 751 

2020

Loan Suppliers

LiabilitiesAssets

Other debts 
payableCompanies Clients

31/12/21

4 980 763
 - 

 - 

 - 

 -
 -

-

 -

4 980 763

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em Manutenção, S.A.
EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e Equipamentos, 
S.A.
GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.Equipamentos, 
S.A.
HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.
SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no Trabalho, 
S.A.
Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

 -   
 25 625 

 -   

 -   

 -   
 3 729 

 -   

 -   

29 354

 61 180 000 
-

-

-

-
-

-

-

61 180 000

 468 
-

 836 

 202 833 

 7 482 
 7 293 

 184 

 11 433 

230 529

Loan Suppliers

LiabilitiesAssets
Other debts 

payableCompanies Clients

31/12/20

 2 502 264

 - 

 - 

 - 

 -

 -

-

 -

 2 502 264

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em 
Manutenção, S.A.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e 
Equipamentos, S.A.

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.
Equipamentos, S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, 
S.A.

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no 
Trabalho, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

 -   

 36 446 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 3 729 

 -   

 -   

 40 175 

 61 180 000 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

61 180 000

-

-

 2 927

 202 833 

 229 

 12 679 

 184 

 10 735 

 229 587
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6. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The gross recorded amount and any cumulative depreciation and impairment losses 
and the reconciliation of the recorded amount for the beginning and end of the period, 
separately showing increases, revaluations, disposals, assets held for sale, amortisation, 
impairment losses and respective reversals and other changes, are specified in the 
following table:

Land and natural 
resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Basic 
equipment

Total tangible 
assets

Transport 
equipment

Administrative 
equipment

Other fixed 
assets

Investments in 
progress

Advanced 
payment

 Cost: 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Write-downs 

    Transfers 

 01 January 2020 

    Other reclassifications 

 31 December 2020 

    Disposals 

    Increases 

    Transfers 

    Increases 

    Write-downs 

    Impairment 

    Disposals 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

 31 December 2021 

636 714 

-

-

2 269 595 

-

2 906 629 

-

320 

-

11 954 

-

-

-

120 118 

3 038 701 

4 365 091 

(2 094 841)

89 541 

40 842 871 

(4 625 936)

51 725 166 

-

354 270 

12 909 037 

16 965 

(1 801 164)

-

(25 325)

936 501 

50 967 009 

656 113 

(14 186 202)

1 746 913 

326 592 530 

(12 402 639)

354 390 763 

-

6 928 931 

48 163 020 

5 720 014 

(5 140 800)

(79 975)

(1 281 014)

2 716 758 

359 433 647 

2 737 686 

(17 107)

32 025 

704 362 

(6 653)

3 418 288 

(170 245)

- 

-

51 641 

-

-

-

1 190 802 

4 522 512 

797 657 

(269 958)

131 924 

3 735 817 

(1 769)

4 371 236 

(372)

76 148 

33 340 

181 747 

(192 318)

-

-

685 278 

5 177 495 

172 138 

(672 772)

105 332 

2 675 844 

(91 800)

2 123 998 

(924)

73 395 

53 672 

161 503 

(188 378)

2 083 

(88 563)

612 176 

2 813 707 

8 421 

-

(2 105 734)

56 642 252 

3 668 196 

2 561 439 

-

2 851 748 

(60 609 178)

4 673 852 

-

-

-

-

5 129 558 

-

-

-

553 277 

-

-

-

- 

(553 277)

-

-

-

-

-

-

9 373 821 

(17 240 879)

-

434 016 548 

(13 460 602)

421 497 519 

(171 541)

10 284 811 

(3 385)

10 817 676 

(7 322 660)

(77 892)

(1 394 902)

6 261 633 

431 082 628 
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As shown in table above, depreciation for the period totalled € 18 923 thousand 
(2020: € 17 910 thousand) and cumulative depreciation and impairments at the end of 
the period totalled € 301 409 thousand (2020: € 285 624 thousand).

Land and natural 
resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Basic 
equipment

Total tangible 
assets

Transport 
equipment

Administrative 
equipment

Other fixed 
assets

Investments in 
progress

Advanced 
payment

 Amortization and Impairment: 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

    Write-downs 

 01 January 2020 

    Disposals 

    Previous years correction 

 31 December 2021 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

    Write-downs 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Previous years correction 

 31 December 2020 

    Disposals 

 Net carrying amount: 

 At 31 December 2021 

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2020 

- 

-

-

219 308 

-

-

219 308 

- 

-

-

-

219 308 

- 

2 819 393 

2 687 320 

2 050 287 

2 041 498 

1 055 588 

(1 787 267)

32 957 284 

(22 511)

-

31 764 334 

1 078 714 

(2 094 841)

504 403 

(1 968 534)

31 991 610 

-

19 202 675 

19 733 556 

7 885 587 

531 389 

17 434 789 

(5 146 122)

253 055 978 

(1 281 014)

(34 540)

259 256 890 

16 503 550 

(12 451 776)

2 045 182 

(11 400 547)

244 957 580 

- 

100 176 758 

109 433 182 

73 536 551 

2 059 537 

169 569 

- 

611 335 

- 

- 

3 525 558 

79 045 

(17 107)

786 807 

(6 653)

2 726 156 

(156 975)

996 954 

692 132 

93 028 

618 647

125 573 

(192 318)

3 533 835 

- 

- 

4 354 573 

92 507 

(211 022)

448 118 

(60 623)

3 973 345 

(145)

822 923 

397 892 

201 982 

169 593 

137 047 

(188 378)

2 274 410 

(88 563)

- 

2 288 241 

156 354 

(731 708)

584 654 

(24 245)

1 755 842 

(924)

525 466 

368 156 

401 434 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5 129 558 

2 561 439 

56 642 252 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

553 277 

5 420 663 

18 922 565 

(7 314 084)

292 652 151 

(1 392 088)

(34 540)

301 408 903 

17 910 170 

(15 506 453)

4 369 164 

(13 460 602)

285 623 842 

(158 044)

129 673 725 

135 873 678 

141 364 397 
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property is property held (by the owner or by the lessee under a finance 
lease) to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, an investment 
property generates cash flows largely independent from the other assets held by 
the entity, which are whether occupied by Group companies or held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services or determined as for short-term sale in the 
ordinary course of business.

As described in paragraph 3.1-b), the Company adopts the cost model to evaluate its 
investment property.

The gross recorded amount and any cumulative depreciation and impairment losses 
and the reconciliation of the recorded amount for the beginning and end of the period, 
separately showing increases, revaluations, disposals, assets held for sale, amortisation, 
impairment losses and respective reversals and other changes, are specified in the 
following table:

As shown in table above, depreciation for the period totalled € 46 thousand 
(2020: € 47 thousand) and cumulative depreciation at the end of the period totalled 
€ 2 090 thousand (2020: € 1 967 thousand).

Land and 
natural 

resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Total 
Investment 

property

 20 703 822 

 (52 190)

 20 651 632 

 779 395 

 (112 347)

 21 318 680 

 Cost: 

 01 January 2020 

    Disposals 

 31 December 2020 

    Acquisition of Subsidiary 

    Disposals 

 31 December 2021 

 

 18 365 482 

 (52 190)

 18 313 292 

 155 246 

 (26 948)

 18 441 590 

 

 2 338 339 

 -   

 2 338 339 

 624 150 

 (85 399)

 2 877 090 

Land and 
natural 

resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Total 
Investment 

property

 1 919 985 

 46 589 

 1 966 574 

 45 603 

 149 403 

 (71 087)

 2 090 492 

 

 

 19 228 188 

 18 685 058 

 18 783 837 

 Amortization and Impairment: 

 01 January 2020 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

 31 December 2020 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

    Discontinued operations (Note 9) 

    Disposals 

 31 December 2021 

 

 Net carrying amount: 

 At 31 December 2021 

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2020 

 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

 

 

 18 441 590 

 18 313 292 

 18 365 482 

 

 1 919 985 

 46 589 

 1 966 574 

 45 603 

 149 403 

 (71 087)

 2 090 492 

 

 

 786 598 

 371 765 

 418 355 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
The gross recorded amount and any cumulative amortisation and the reconciliation 
of the recorded amount for the beginning and end of the period, separately showing 
increases, disposals, assets held for sale, amortisation, impairment losses and other 
changes, are shown in the following table:  

Development 
projects Software Industrial 

property
Emission 

allowances Other 
Total 

intangible 
assets

 Cost: 

    Use of emission allowances 

 31 December 2020 

    Use of emission allowances 

 01 January 2020 

    Changes in fair value 

    Allocation of emission allowances 

    Changes in fair value 

    Acquisitions 

    Transfers 

    Acquisitions 

    Transfers 

    Write-downs 

    Impairment 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Disposals 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

 31 December 2021 

-

 2 045 031 

-

 2 038 693 

-

-

-

-

 (9 620)

 184 687 

-

 (9 620)

 9 620 

 15 958 

-

 1 040 253 

 3 269 972 

 -   

 1 372 429 

-

 1 068 942 

-

-

-

 148 925 

 (13 874)

 32 658 

 1 780 

 (2 983)

 2 983 

 168 436 

-

 653 859 

 2 060 725 

-

 193 766 

-

 124 177 

-

-

-

 5 437 

-

-

-

-

-

 107 652 

 (43 500)

 2 077 

 195 842 

 (657 701)

 1 743 428 

 (875 163)

 2 682 791 

 502 658 

 4 030 864 

 810 789 

- 

-

 6 387 

 (316 126)

-

-

-

 (784 320)

 -   

 5 400 179 

-

 526 415 

-

 526 415 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

 (144 693)

 (333 736)

-

-

-

 47 985 

 (657 701)

 5 881 068 

 (875 163)

 6 441 018 

 502 658 

 4 030 864 

 810 789 

 154 362 

 (23 494)

 223 732 

 (314 346)

 (157 296)

 (321 133)

 292 045 

 (827 820)

 1 696 189 

 10 974 703 
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As shown in table above, depreciation for the period totalled € 2 421 thousand 
(2020: € 1 103 thousand) and cumulative depreciation at the end of the period totalled 
€ 6 230 thousand (2020: € 4 580 thousand).

Development 
projects Software Industrial 

property
Emission 

allowances Other 
Total 

intangible 
assets

 Amortization and Impairment: 

    Transfers 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Impairment 

 01 January 2020 

    Write-downs 

    Other reclassifications 

 31 December 2021 

    Amortisation (Note 27) 

 31 December 2020 

    Transfers 

 

 Net carrying amount: 

 At 31 December 2021 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Amortisation (Note 27) 

    Write-downs 

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2020 

 (9 620)

 286 764 

 9 620 

 2 014 196 

-

-

 2 331 795 

 24 497 

 2 045 031 

-

 

 938 177 

 15 958 

-

 (9 620)

-

 24 497 

 (17 259)

 616 296 

 2 983 

 880 210 

-

 (118)

 1 893 405 

 119 634 

 1 145 173 

-

 

 

 167 320 

 162 588 

 132 055 

 (2 983)

 227 255 

 188 732 

-

 2 077 

-

 6 758 

-

 (135)

 97 532 

 10 059 

 81 720 

-

 98 311 

 64 903 

 13 869 

 -   

 112 045 

 117 419 

-

 -   

-

 638 293 

 (805 104)

 -   

 1 859 309 

 948 572 

 781 761 

 (316 126)

 

 3 540 869 

-

 2 274 640 

 (880 965)

 961 668 

 2 044 498 

-

 -

 (333 736)

 526 415 

-

-

 47 985 

-

 526 415 

-

-

-

-

 (144 693)

-

-

 (26 879)

905 136 

 (321 133)

4 065 871 

 (805 104)

 (253)

 6 230 026 

 1 102 763 

 4 580 100 

 (316 126)

 

 4 744 677 

 243 449 

 2 420 564 

 (1 038 261)

 1 300 968 

 2 375 147 
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9. EQUITY HOLDINGS 
The Group’s equity holdings at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are made up as follows:

9.1 - Investment in associates
Associate companies consolidated according to the equity method, their results and 
the proportion of capital held in them are as follows:

 Equity method 

 Investments in Associates (Note 9.1) 

31/12/2031/12/21

 1 023 517 

 1 023 517 

 

 1 066 502 

 1 066 502 

 Other methods 

 Non listed shares (Note 9.2) 

 Investment in other Companies 

31/12/2031/12/21

 9 782 

 61 224 

 71 006 

 

 9 533 

 157 795 

 167 328

Equity Net 
Income % 31/12/20 31/12/21

Equity method

 AQP 

Other 

 2 278 536

 -  

 2 278 536 

 397 288

 (6 151)

 391 137 

49.9

-

 1 060 034

 6 468

 1 066 502

 1 014 088

 9 429

 1 023 517
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Changes occurred during the year in associated companies measured by the equity 
method are as follows:

9.2 - Equity Holdings – other methods

Balance at 
01 January 2021

Balance at 
01 January 2020

   Acquisition 
of subsidiary

   Acquisition 
of subsidiary

Net income 
(Note 20)

Net income 
(Note 20)

Dividend 
distribution

Dividend 
distribution

Changes 
in Equity

Changes 
in Equity

Balance at 
31 December 2021

Balance at
31 December 2020

 AQP - Aliada Quimica Portugal, Lda 

 AQP - Aliada Quimica Portugal, Lda 

 Other 

  Other  

 1 060 034 

 971 250 

 6 468 

10

 1 066 502 

 971 260 

-

-

-

 7 811 

-

-

 397 288 

 443 234 

 (6 151)

 (1 353)

 391 137 

 441 881 

 (443 234)

 (354 450)

-

-

 (443 234)

 (354 450)

-

-

 9 112 

-

-

-

 1 014 088 

 1 060 034 

 9 429 

 6 468 

 1 023 517 

 1 066 502 

31/12/21 31/12/20

 Erase - Emp. Regeneração de Águas e Solos de Estarreja, ACE 

 Ynvisible Interactive Inc. 

 Other 

 

 Amortization for losses in securities and other applications 

 9 228

 61 224 

 13 954 

 84 406 

 (13 400)

  71 006 

 9 228

 157 795 

 13 705 

 180 728 

 (13 400)

 167 328 
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10. GOODWILL

10.1 - Reconciliation of amount recorded as goodwill
The positive consolidation differences recorded in assets, the acquisition cost, and 
the percentage value of the equity of subsidiaries and associates as of acquisition 
date, are as follows:

11. INVENTORIES

11.1 - Inventories
The total carrying value of inventories, and the carrying value in appropriate 
classifications, are shown on the following table:

The amounts of inventories recognised as expenses for the period are as follows:

10.2 - Additional information concerning business combinations
In 2021 Bondalti SGPS was merged with Bondalti Capital with no impact for the Group.

Year 
of acquisition Acquisition cost % Equity purchased Opening purchase 

difference
Cumulative 

amortisation
Closing purchase 

difference

 MIRALCALIS 

 DOLOPAND 

 GRUPO AGUAS ALFARO  

2021

2016

2021

 5 139 230 

 1 000 

 10 291 577 

 20 

 100 

 100 

 139 230 

 611 

 4 418 631 

 4 558 472 

 (2 321)

 (51)

 (257 753)

 (260 125)

 136 910 

 560 

 4 160 878 

 4 298 347 

31/12/21 31/12/20

 Goods 

 Raw materials, subsidiary materials and consumables 

 Finished and intermediate products 

 Products and works in progress 

 4 608 110 

 17 411 203 

 4 699 256 

 1 449 084 

 28 167 653 

 4 067 543 

 14 556 311 

 4 204 778 

 -   

 22 828 632 
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11.2 - Variation in production

11.3 - Cost of goods sold

11.4 - Impairment of Inventories
Inventory adjustment and reversal amounts recognised as expenses during the period 
and as expense reductions during the period are shown on the following table:

12. STATE AND OTHER PUBLIC ENTITIES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 this caption was made up as follows:

Finished and 
intermediate 

products

Products and work 
in progress Total

 5 286 411
 (977 963)

 6 090 
 (109 761)

 4 204 778 

 4 204 778 
 455 355 
 1 120 422 
 367 786 

 6 148 341 

 Balance at 01 January 2020 

     Adjustments 

     Impairment 

     Increase/decrease for the year 

 Balance at 31 December 2020 

 Balance at 01 January 2021 

 Adjustments 

 Change in the consolidation perimeter 

 Increase/decrease for the year 

 Balance at 31 December 2021 

 5 286 411 
 (977 963)

 6 090 
 (109 761)

 4 204 778 

 4 204 778 
 455 355 

 
 39 123 

 4 699 256 

 -
-
-
-
-

-
-

 1 120 422 
 328 663 

 1 449 084 

Goods
Raw materials, 

subsidiary materials 
and consumables

Total

 15 050 372 
 130 836 599 

-
 2 123 519 

 18 623 855 
 129 386 636 

 18 623 855 
 275 923 196 

-
 641 826 

 22 019 313 
 273 169 564 

 Balance at 01 January 2020 
     Procurement 

     Impairments 

     Correction of inventories 

 Balance at 31 December 2020 

 Balance at 01 January 2021 
     Procurement 

     Impairments 

     Correction of inventories 

 Balance at 31 December 2021 

 980 414 
 8 241 021 

-
-

 4 067 543 
 5 153 892

 4 067 543 
 16 447 181 

-
-

 4 608 110 
 15 906 614 

 14 069 958 
 122 595 578 

-
 2 123 519 

 14 556 311 
 124 232 744 

 14 556 311 
 259 476 016 

-
 641 826 

 17 411 203 
 257 262 950 

 Reversal of impairment losses: 

     Finished and intermediate products 

     Goods 

20202021

-

-

-

 

6 090

 6 090

-

 Accounts receivable 

     VAT 

 Accounts payable 

     Income tax 

     Income tax withheld 

     VAT 

     Payments to Social Security 

     Income tax 

31/12/2031/12/21

 -

 40 135 

 393 933 

 2 437 977 

 584 583 

 3 456 629 

-

 

 1 505 525 

 -   

 332 711 

 -   

 434 343 

 767 053 

 109 027 
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13. DEFERRALS

13.1 - Expenses to recognise
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the expenses to be recognised had the following 
breakdown:

Caption Financial Expenses concern the accounting of amortised cost relating to the 
loan contracted at Bondalti Chemicals in 2020.

13.2 - Income to recognise
Recognisable income is as follows:

Caption Other Income to recognise comprises € 320 thousand from the sale of 
equipment belonging to Innovnano.

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 
Measurement bases and other accounting policies used in the accounting of financial 
statements that are relevant for an understanding of the financial statements are 
described in sub paragraphs h), m) and o) of paragraph 3.1.

Assets headings:

Liabilities headings:

 Expenses to be recognised 

   Financial expenses 

   Other 

   Insurance 

31/12/2031/12/21

 1 616 688 

 424 104

 2 406 500

 365 708 

 

 1 905 327 

 343 901 

 2 328 877

 79 648 

 Income to be recognised 

   Ongoing projects 

   Other deferred income 

   Surface rights 

31/12/2031/12/21

 89 413 

 320 000 

 903 963 

 494 550 

 

-

 264 961 

 793 461 

 528 500 

 Non current 

 Current 

    Clients (Note 14.2) 

    Other trade receivables (Note 14.2) 

  

    Other financial assets (Note 14.1) 

31/12/2031/12/21

 62 472 073 
 

 68 984 069 

 4 202 026 

 73 186 095 

 62 472 073 

 

 61 244 774
 

 32 808 645 

 2 880 102 

 35 688 747 

 61 244 774 

 

Non current

   Other debts payable (Note 14.4) 

Current

   Suppliers (Note 14.3)

   Advances from clients

   Loans (Note 14.5)

   Other debts payable (Note 14.4)

   Loans (Note 14.5)

31/12/2031/12/21

 3 477 264 

 106 127 313 
 

 67 540 947 

 4 789 508 

 31 873 689 

 14 905 700 

 119 109 844 

 102 650 049 

 

 7 337 415 

 123 363 455 
 

 37 175 447 

 859 319 

 30 389 167 

 10 483 295 

 78 907 227 

 116 026 040 
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14.1 - Other financial assets
Financial assets for which impairment was recognised are indicated on the following 
tables, showing i) the accounting amount resulting from measuring at amortised cost 
and ii) accumulated impairment, separately for each of the classes:

Loans to group companies concern the subscription of bonds issued by José de Mello 
Capital, S.A., in the amount of € 61 180 000. These bonds accrue interest at normal 
market rates. 

Caption “Advances on account of investments” refers to a financial investment by the 
subsidiary AEMA in the facilities of a client.

Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/21

Net amount Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/20

Net amount

 Non current assets 

 Non current assets 

   Loans to other related parties 

   Other 

   Advances on account of investments

 

 61 180 000 

 97 740 

 62 472 073 

 1 194 333 

 

 

-

-

 -   

-

 

 

 61 180 000 

 97 740 

 62 472 073 

  1 194 333  

 

 

 61 180 000 

 64 774 

 61 244 774 

-

 

-

-

-

-

 

 

 61 180 000 

 64 774 

 61 244 774 

-
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14.2 - Clients and other accounts receivable
Financial assets for which impairment was recognised are indicated on the following 
tables, showing i) the accounting amount resulting from measuring at amortized cost 
and ii) accumulated impairment, separately for each of the classes:

Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/21

Net amount Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/20

Net amount

 Clients 

   Clients c/a 

 Other accounts receivable 

   Clients securities receivable 

   Personnel 

   Other doubtful receivables 

   Doubtful receivables 

   Accrued receivables and trade pay 

   Advanced payment to suppliers 

   

   Other receivables 

   Other receivables group (Note 5) 

 68 521 633 

 

 462 436 

 29 595 

 269 316 

 4 017 709 

 1 070 020 

 540 900 

 73 001 778 

 2 561 510 

-

 4 471 341 

 

-

 

-

-

 (269 316)

 (4 017 709)

-

-

 (4 017 709)

-

-

 (269 316)

 

 68 521 633 

 

 462 436 

 29 595 

-

-

 1 070 020 

 540 900 

 68 984 069 

 2 561 510 

-

 4 202 026 

 

 32 694 738 

 

 113 907 

 42 280 

 269 316 

 3 681 669 

 179 110 

 218 695 

 36 490 314 

 2 440 018 

-

 3 149 418 

 

-

-

 (269 316)

 (3 681 669)

-

-

 (3 681 669)

-

-

 (269 316)

 

 32 694 738 

 

 113 907 

 42 280 

-

-

 179 110 

 218 695 

 32 808 645 

 2 440 018 

-

 2 880 102 
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The amount of impairment losses recognised for each class of financial assets is as 
shown in the following tables:

Year 2021 Opening balance

Opening balance

Impairment (P&L)

Impairment (P&L)

Used and corrected

Used and corrected

Reversal (P&L)

Reversal (P&L)

Perimeter Change

Perimeter Change

Closing Balance

Closing Balance

 Financial assets measured at cost minus impairment 

   Clients 

      Doubtful receivables 

   Other accounts receivable 

      Other doubtful receivables 

 

 (3 681 669)

 (3 950 985)

 (269 316)

 

 

 (6 327)

 (6 327)

-

 

 

 (364 469)

 

 (364 469)

-

 

 

 99 991 

 

 99 991 

-

 

 (65 236)

 (65 236)

-

 

 

 (4 017 709)

 (4 287 025)

 (269 316)

Year 2020

 Financial assets measured at cost minus impairment 

   Clients 

      Doubtful receivables 

   Other accounts receivable 

      Other doubtful receivables 

 

 (2 380 534)

 (2 649 849)

 (269 316)

 

 

 (8 839)

 (8 839)

-

 

 

 (1 292 296)

 

 (1 292 296)

-

 

 

-

 

-

-

 

-

-

-

 

 

 (3 681 669)

 (3 950 985)

 (269 316)
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14.3 - Suppliers
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, caption Payable is made up as follows:

14.4 - Other debts payable
As of 31 December 2021, and 2020, caption Other Trade Payable was made up as follows:

Caption Suppliers of Capital Goods (non-current) includes a debt of Bondalti Cantabria, 
which will only be repaid within more than a year.

Other non-current debts payable refers to a payment to be made to the shareholders 
of the Alfaro Group, within a period of four years.

 Suppliers 

    Suppliers c/a Group (Note 5) 

    Suppliers securities receivable 

    Invoices being checked 

    Suppliers c/a 

31/12/2031/12/21

 230 529 

 1 921 647 

 9 719 469 

 67 540 947 

 55 669 301 

 

 229 587 

 1 637 464 

 4 448 549 

 37 175 447 

 30 859 847 

Invoices being checked 

   Supplies 

   Other debts payable 

 Current 

 Other debts payable 

   Personnel 

   Suppliers of investment  

   Accrued expenses 

     Holiday Pay and Holiday Bonus 

     Financial expenses  

     Insurance 

     Other accruals 

  Other debts payable 

  Other debts payable Group (Note 5) 

   Investment Providers 

31/12/2031/12/21

-

 2 000 000 

 3 477 264 

 

 

 29 881 

 3 334 855 

 

 1 912 690 

 12 232 

 563 

 2 566 099 

 2 068 618 

 4 980 763 

 14 905 700 

 18 382 964 

 1 477 264 

 

 4 700 000 

-

 7 337 415 

 

 

 21 351 

 2 839 354 

 

 1 846 154 

-

-

1 651 115

 1 623 057 

 2 502 264 

 10 483 295 

 17 820 710 

 2 637 415 

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  ANNEXES

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (amounts in Euro)



GLOSSARY

109

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The balance of the item Other accruals includes the anticipation of water resources 
and tributaries treatment fees, IMI and AIMI, € 422 thousand referring to the works at 
the Loulé mine that will be carried out in the coming years and € 1 738 thousand of the 
raw material hedging swap expenses.

The balance of caption Other Amounts Payable (Note 5) concerns the tax payable by 
the Group to José de Mello Capital, pursuant to RETGS.

14.5 - Loans
Caption Loans as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is made up as follows:

Bank overdrafts refer to the subsidiary Bondalti Cantabria and the Enkrott Group and the 
escrow accounts and Financial Leases to the Enkrott Group and the Aguas Alfaro Group.

14.5.1. – Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Current and non-current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and respective 
terms and conditions are as shown in the following table:

In 2019 Bondalti restructured its financial debt through a syndicated long-term loan 
with 8 banks, which allowed to refinance all its loans and set out conditions for new 
investments in the next few years. 

This refinancing assumes compliance with debt-to-equity ratios of at least 25% and 
net debt over EBITDA with a maximum of 4.0x. As of the closing of the year these ratios 
were met.  

Financing entity Current Non current

2021 2020

Current Non current

Bank loans at amortized cost 
(Note 14.5.1) 

 Bank loans at cost 

 Other AICEP loans 

 Bank overdrafts (Note 4) 

 Finance leases 

 Secured accounts 

 Factoring 

 Other Financiers

 25 000 000

 3 926 850 

-

 1 047 538 

 821 326 

 552 500 

 520 455 

 5 019 

 31 873 689 

 100 121 185 

 2 136 175 

-

-

 392 689 

-

-

-

 102 650 049 

 25 000 000 

 326 159 

 670 

 2 075 796 

 983 092 

 2 003 450 

-

-

30 389 167  

 115 000 000 

 1 017 051 

 1 676 

-

 7 313 

-

-

-

 116 026 040 

 Loans payable 

 Non current 

 Current 

    Bank loans 

    Bank loans 

       Retail banking 

         Retail banking 

Maturity Maturity2021 2020

  

  

  

  

  

30/06/27 30/12/26

30/06/27 30/12/26

  

  

  

  

  

 100 121 185  115 000 000 

 25 000 000 

 125 121 185 

 25 000 000 

 140 000 000 
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15.  PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 
CONTINGENT ASSETS

The accounting policies adopted for the recognition of Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets are described in line  m) of paragraph 3.1.

15.1 - Provisions
The change occurred in provisions, according to provision, is as follows:

 At 01 January 2020 

   Reversals in the year 

   Increases for the year 

   Increases due to penalties

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2021 

   Used in the year 

   Reversals in the year 

   Increases for the year 

   Increase purchased Entities 

 At 31 December 2021 

   Used in the year 

Other provisions

 12 275 512 

 (1 210 000)

 766 039 

 9 066 

 10 208 050 

 10 208 050 

 (2 369 736)

 (2 275 628)

 107 772 

 128 963 

 5 799 421 

 (1 632 567)
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Changes in the year were as follows: 

In February 2009, it was decided to discontinue all urea and ammonia production at 
subsidiary AP. In order to face liabilities stemming from the decision to discontinue this 
operation, a provision was set up in the amount of € 57 000 thousand. In past few years, 
this provision was reduced by € 52 000 thousand as all amounts due as severance 
pay, payments to suppliers following contract rescissions, dismantling operations and 

cleaning of land had already been settled. The amount available at 31 December 2021 
totalling € 5 000 thousand will be used to face any liabilities which may still arise out 
of the said discontinuing process.

At the beginning of the year subsidiary Elnosa had a provision set up in the amount of 
€ 1 849 thousand related to the decontamination of the land and the dismantling of 
the facilities, which was almost entirely used for this purpose (leaving € 94 thousand). 

Description

Description

Opening balance

Opening balance

Used in the year

Used in the year

Reversals in the year 
(P&L)

Reversals in the year 
(P&L)

Increases in the year 
(P&L)

Increases in the year 
(P&L)

TOTAL P&L

TOTAL P&L

Increase purchased 
Entities

Increase purchased 
Entities

Closing Balance

Closing Balance

 Provision of discontinuing operations 

 Provision of discontinuing operations 

 Provision Guarantees to Customers 

 Provision for restructuring 

 Provision for restructuring 

 Provision of other legal proceedings 

 Provision for other pending lawsuits 

 Other provisions 

 Other provisions 

 5 000 000

 5 000 000

 -   

 4 084 857 

 2 452 290 

-

 9 066 

 3 190 655 

 10 208 050 

 12 275 512 

 2 746 693 

 -   

 -   

 

 (1 632 567)

 (1 865 164)

 -   

 -  

 (2 369 736)

 (1 632 567)

 (504 571)

 -   

 -   

 

 -

 -   

 -   

 

 (1 210 000)

 (2 275 628)

 (1 210 000)

 (2 275 628)

 -   

 -   

 

- 

 

 -

 2 442 

 766 039 

 107 772 

 766 039 

 105 330 

 -

 -

-

-

-

-

 2 442 

 (443 961)

 (2 167 856)

 (443 961)

 (2 170 298)

-

-

 5 000 000 

 5 000 000 

 23 213 

-

 23 213 

 2 452 290 

-

 9 066 

 587 126 

 9 066 

-

-

 11 508 

 2 746 693 

 128 963 

 9 066 

 5 799 421 

 10 208 050 

 105 750  177 574 

2021

2020
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A provision with an amount of € 1 150 thousand was also set up for Nutriquim in 2013 
to cover the company’s dismantling plan. However, during recent years, part of the 
provision was used to cover costs for the purpose. The remaining amount as of 31 
December 2021 is of € 493 thousand.

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
 
16.1 – Employees benefits 
The reconciliation between opening and closing balances of the current value of these 
obligations is shown in the following table:

16.2 - Post-employment benefits (Defined Benefit Retirement Pension Plan)
The Group’s accounting policy concerning the recognition of actuarial gains and losses 
relating to post-employment benefits pursuant to Defined Benefit Plans is described 
in sub-paragraph m.1) of paragraph 3.1. 

The Group has commitments with some of its former and current employees with 
whom it assumed this responsibility to complement the retirement pensions for old 
age, disability, and survival.

Total

 2 993 889 

 18 496 

 (216 088)

 495 669 

 3 291 965 

 20 026 

 (501 798)

 (164 424)

 2 645 769 

Liability for defined benefits 
at 01 January 2020 

   Interest expenses 

   Benefits paid 

   Actuarial (gains) / losses 

Liability for defined benefits at 31 
December 2020 

   Interest expenses 

   Benefits paid 

   Actuarial (gains) / losses 

Liability for defined benefits at 31 
December 2021 

Medical 
benefit 

plan 
(no Fund set up)

 364 039 

-

 111 352 

-

 475 391 

-

 (208 995)

-

 266 397 

Defined 
retirement 

benefit plan (no 
fund set up)

 2 629 850 

 18 496 

 (327 441)

 495 669 

 2 816 574 

 20 026 

 (292 804)

 (164 424)

 2 379 373 
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 Defined benefit - 
Pension supplement for 

old age, disability and 
survival 

 Defined benefit - 
Healthcare plan without 

provided fund 

Bondalti 
Chemicals

Bondalti 
Chemicals

 Retirement 
Pension Plans 

 Healthcare Plan 

 Some of 
the former 

and present 
employees 

 Some of 
the former 

and present 
employees 

 Portugal 

 Portugal 
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The Group uses the Projected Unit Credit method and the following assumptions and 
technical bases in 2021 and 2020:

Although it did not set up any fund or insurance to cover this responsibility, the Group 
set up a provision for the purpose, which is adjusted according to an actuarial valuation 
carried out by a specialised and independent firm.

Companies included in the consolidation perimeter at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
were subject in reference to this date, to an actuarial report prepared by Actuariado - 
Estudos Actuariais, Económicos e Financeiros. The current value of liabilities for past 
services and retirement pensions at the date of the balance sheet is estimated at € 2 
379 thousand in 2021 and € 2 817 thousand, in 2020; the liability for post-employment 
benefits was adjusted accordingly.

16.3 - Healthcare benefits
The Group is also liable for the costs of hospitalization, appointments, and surgery, 
according to the Company’s regulations and an agreement in force with the CUF Infante 
Santo Hospital, as well as for the part of drugs not reimbursed by the National Health 
Service (only drugs reimbursed by the National Health Service) for some of its former 
and current employees, with whom this responsibility has been assumed.

This Company has not set up any fund or insurance to cover this responsibility, 
however it did set up a provision for the purpose, which is adjusted according to an 
actuarial valuation made by Actuariado - Estudos Actuariais, Económicos e Financeiros. 
According to the assessment report that was submitted, the current value of medical 
liabilities for former Bondalti Chemicals employees, at 31 December 2021, is estimated 
at € 266 thousand (€ 475 thousand at 31 December 2020), and is included under the 
“Post-employment Benefits Responsibilities” caption.

16.4 – Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses were as follows:

 Remuneration of Governing Bodies 

 Wages 

 Retirement benefits 

    Retirement pension plans 

 Occupational insurance 

 Indemnities 

 Social security expenses 

 Other personnel expenses 

 Wage expenses 

2020

 3 173 205 

 12 727 062

 562 697 

 201 525 

 889 836 

 1 334 917 

 298 377 

 22 390 419 

 3 202 801 

2021

 3 332 058 

 17 740 680 

 21 189 

 306 852 

 728 070 

 1 083 377 

 411 798 

 28 101 108 

 4 477 084 

 Salary growth rate for Social Security Responsibility 

 Salary growth rate 

 Rate of return of the fund 

 Pension growth rate 

 Mortality table 

 Technical rate (life rents) 

 Disability table 

 Revaluation of salaries for Social Security 

2020

2%

2%

0.75%

0%

TV 88/90

0.75%

EKV80

1%

2021

2%

2%

0.75%

0%

TV 88/90

0.75%

EKV80

1%
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During 2021 and 2020 the average number of employees at the Group was of 689 and 
541, respectively, as follows:

17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

17.1 - Share capital
The Company’s share capital at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was made up of 4 084 400 
fully subscribed and paid up shares with a nominal value of € 5 each.

17.2 - Reserves and Results
Amounts of retained earnings are  available for distribution.

The Net Profit for the year 2020, in the amount of € 14 543 196.07 was appropriated 
as follows:
Legal Reserve: € 32 069.04
Dividends: € 6 000 000.00
Retained earnings: € 8 511 127.03

17.3 – Adjustments/Other changes in equity
The amounts resulting from changes in the fair value of hedging instruments recognised 
in equity during the period, for the purpose of hedging the interest rate risk of the loans 
contracted for the Capacity Expansion Plan, and other risks are as follows:

Changes in issuing rights are as follows:

(Including 5 remunerated directors, in 2020 and 2021, respectively)

 Grupo Bondalti Chemicals 

 Bondalti Capital 

 Grupo Enkrott  

 Grupo Aguas Alfaro 

Change

 15 

-

 (3)

 136 

 148 

20202021Corporate name

 298  313 

 60  60 

 183 180

- 136 

 541  689 

Change in assets 

     Equity holdings and 
associated companies 

    CO2 licences 

    AICEP subsidies (Note 18) 

    Other 

    Swap hedges  

31/12/19 31/12/20 31/12/21Changes in 
fair value

Changes in 
fair value

   

   

 1 605 436 

 5 702 934 

 2 835 809 

 766 242 

 4 275 066 

 2 726 128 

 2 836 252 

 2 311 152 

 2 982 345 

 -   - -

  

  

 (839 194)

 (1 427 867)

 (109 682)

 2 070 010 

 (1 963 915)

 256 217 

- -

 Balance at 1 January 

    Assignments (Note 8) 

    Acquisition (Note 8) 

    Used (Notes 23 and 31.1) 

    Transfers 

    Fair value (Note 31.1) 

 Balance at 31 December 

    Deferred taxation (Note 30) 

 Net balance at 31 December 

    Disposals (Note 8) 

31/12/20

 2 044 498 
-

-

 (948 572)

 147 403 

 502 658 

 961 668 
 (195 425)

 766 242 

 (784 320)

31/12/21

 961 668 
 4 030 864 

 6 387

 (2 268 545)

 (293)

 810 789 

 3 540 869 
 (704 618)

 2 836 252 

 -   
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17.4 - Non controlling interests
As of December 2021, and 2020, non-controlling interests related to the following 
subsidiaries:

The change in the non-controlling interests caption as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 
was as follows:

Proportion 
in net 

income

Proportion in 
Equity

31/12/21 31/12/20

Proportion 
in net 

income

Proportion in 
Equity

 Miralcalis 

 Enkrott 

 -   

 169 955 

 169 955 

 -   

 1 981 582 

 1 981 582 

 (124 889)

 101 542 

 (23 347)

 76 480 

 1 568 422 

 1 644 903 

 Opening balance 

 Appropriation of income for the year 

 Changes in the consolidation perimeter - Miralcalis 

 Adjustment 

 Closing Balance 

31/12/20

 201 369 

 (23 347)

 1 462 880 

 4 000 

 1 644 902 

31/12/21

 1 644 902 

 169 955 

 166 725 

 -   

 1 981 582 
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18.  SUBSIDIES AND OTHER FUNDING FROM PUBLIC 
ENTITIES

 
The nature and amount of the government subsidies recognised in the financial 
statements are  as follows:

Recognised in equity:

The main investment subsidy concerns the Expansion and Growth Plan and the amount 
of Other Debts payable to the associated deferred tax.

Recognised in income for the year:

Gross value Gross valueNet value Other debts payableOther debts payable Net value

 Opening balance 

    Received in the year 

    Transferred to profit and loss 

    Adjustment 

 Closing Balance 

 Attributable to the Group (Note 17.3) 

 

 5 493 331  7 344 721

 -    30 935 

 (2 223 335)  (1 882 326)

 (266 234)  -  

 3 003 762  5 493 331 

 4 275 066 

-

 (2 223 335)

 259 420 

 2 311 152 

 2 311 152 

 (1 641 787) (1 218 264)

--

--

 423 523 525 654

 (1 218 264) (692 610)

 5 702 934 

 30 935 

 (1 882 326)

 423 523

 4 275 066 

 4 275 066

20202021

 Investment subsidies (Note 23) 

 Operating subsidies 

2020

 1 882 326 

 69 117 

 1 951 443 

2021

 2 223 335 

 157 806 

 2 381 141 
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19. REVENUE
 
As of 31 December 2021, and 2020, item Sales and Services is broken down as follows:

Sales and services broken down by significant geographical market are as follows:

Gross margin is as shown in the following table:

As described in the management report, the increase in sales in 2021 is not only due 
to the increase in quantities sold but also to the increase in prices, whose formation 
mechanism is indexed to the price of various raw materials that in 2021 reached historic 
highs.

 Sales of Goods 

     Goods 

     Finished and intermediate products 

     By-products, waste, residues and refuse 

     Return of sales 

 Rendered services 

     Services 

     Discounts and reductions 

 

 

     Discounts and reductions to sales 

2020

 

 21 275 041 

 226 984 907 

 94 912 

 239 633 445 

 (617 330)

 

 3 575 976 

 (161 805)

 3 414 171 

 243 047 616 

 (8 104 085)

2021

 

 28 906 312 

 413 424 750 

 120 273 

 434 088 993 

 (732 347)

 

 10 283 670 

 (499 702)

 9 783 968 

 443 872 961 

 (7 629 995)

Rest of EuropePortugal

Portugal

Africa

Africa

2021

2020

Asia

Asia

Total

Total

America

America

 Sales of goods 

 Sales of goods 

 Rendered services 

 Rendered services 

167 272 946 

88 357 685 

237 757 122 

140 905 886 

1 398 161 

713 231 

8 362 710 

2 700 941 

168 671 107 

89 070 916 

246 119 832 

143 606 827 

1 343 561 

133 173 

23 097 

-

1 366 658 

133 173 

668 495 

1 905 624 

434 088 993 

239 633 445 

-

-

9 783 968 

3 414 171 

668 495 

1 905 624 

443 872 961 

243 047 616 

27 046 869 

8 331 076 

-

-

27 046 869 

8 331 076 

Rest of Europe

 Sales 

 Changes in production (Note 11.2) 

 Cost of goods sold (Note 11.3) 

2020

 239 633 445 

 (109 761)

 (129 386 636)

 110 137 048 

2021

 434 088 993 

 367 786 

 (273 169 564)

 161 287 216 
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20.  GAINS/LOSSES OF SUBSIDIATIES, ASSOCIATES AND 
JOINT VENTURES

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

21. WORK FOR OWN ENTITY
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

Income and gains of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint 
Ventures 

      Application of the Equity Method (note 9.1) 

     Gains on business combinations 

Expenses and losses of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint 
Ventures 

     Others 

2020

 

 441 881 

 1 617 679 

 2 059 560 

 5 017 

 

 2 054 543 

 

 5 017 

2021

 

 397 288 

-

 397 288 

 6 151 

 

 391 137 

 

 6 151 

 Work of own company to: 

     Tangible fixed assets 

2020

 

 321 202 

 321 202 

2021

 

 229 126 

 229 126 
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The heading of specialized work includes € 1.5 million and € 375 thousand referring 
to specialized consultancy and legal work, respectively, essentially referring to new 
projects.

The significant increase in the electricity item, by around € 16 million, is due to the 
increasing price of the electricity market.

The increase in transport costs during the year and the increase in sales led to an 
increase of€ 6.2 million in the transport of goods item.

22. EXTERNAL SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Sub-contracts 

 Specialised services 

 Materials 

 Fuel 

 Specialised works 

 Tools and utensils 

 Water 

 Advertising costs 

 Books and technical documentation 

 Gas 

 Other fees 

 Other 

 Maintenance and repair 

 Energy and fluids 

 Other services 

 Electricity 

 Surveillance and Safety 

 Stationery 

 Other fluids 

 Fees 

 Promotional items 

2020

 105 207 

 

 

 2 675 553 

 3 771 945 

 27 240 

 978 884 

 140 910 

 53 182 

 

 48 743 

 150 149 

 4 387 918 

 

 2 325 050 

 23 074 519 

 630 246 

 255 464 

 938 360 

 213 157 

 10 790 

2021

 1 741 740 

 

 

 3 639 600 

 5 639 747 

 50 188 

 1 123 957 

 251 272 

 51 007 

 

 94 447 

 155 914 

 5 622 996 

 

 2 273 222 

 39 073 815 

 721 875 

 447 357 

 1 127 846 

 185 948 

 33 012 

 Sundry services 

 Rents and rentals 

 Consolidation corrections 

 Communication 

 

 Insurance 

 Representation fees  

 Cleaning, hygiene and comfort 

 Other 

 Royalties 

 Legal services 

2020

 

 3 288 017 

 (18 725)

 126 285 

 

 2 138 823 

 60 140 045 

 48 439 

 357 915 

-

 -   

 8 695 

2021

 

 3 637 935 

-

 243 818 

 2 356 441 

 89 788 322 

 67 144 

 393 486 

 17 691 

 -   

 9 668 

 Travelling and accommodation 

 Transport of personnel 

 Transport of goods 

 Other transports 

 Travelling, accommodation and transport 

 320 315 

 365 

 13 963 765 

 118 836 

 

 473 136 

 310

 20 182 220 

 172 528 
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23. OTHER INCOME
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

The Benefit of Non-Contractual Penalties, at Bondalti Capital, refers to the conclusion 
of a dispute in Spain of an affiliate sold in 2001 by Bondalti SGPS.

Gains from emission allowances concern the Portuguese Carbon Fund subsidy 
concerning the reduction of CO2 emissions in the amount of € 2 269 thousand.

 

24. OTHER EXPENSES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Supplementary income 

     Equipment rental 

     Other 

     Other 

 Other 

 Prompt payment discounts obtained 

     Corrections relating to previous years 

 Income and Gains on Non Financial Investments 

     Excess of estimated tax  

     Tax refund 

     Disposals 

     Appropriation of investment subsidies 

     Operating exchange differences (Note 25) 

     Rents and other income on investment property  

     Gains on emission allowances 

     Other, non specified 

 Recovery of receivables 

     Benefits Contractual penalties

         Use of allowances (Note 17.3) 

 Gains on inventories 

     Indemnities of insurable events 

         Gains on the disposal of emission allowances 

2020

 

 374 324 

 46 200 

 1 549 852 

 

 30 

 63 539 

 

 148 418 

 75 119 

 707 034

 1 882 326 

 6 908

 3 666 

 

 270 256 

 7 464 823 

 -

- 

 948 572 

 767 

 472 932 

 914 880 

2021

 

 374 324 

 46 511 

 1 682 904 

 4 157 

 285 893 

 

 769 839 

 75 

 84 037 

 2 223 335 

 314 185 

 8 261 

 

 854 588 

 9 543 231 

 135 

 307 086 

 2 268 545 

 890 

 2 634 

 315 833 

 Tax 
 Prompt payment discounts granted 

     Donations 

 Irrecoverable debt 

     Contributions 

 Losses on inventories  

     Samples and offers of inventories 

     Write-downs 

     Penalties and fines 

 Others 

         Tax penalties  

     Corrections relating to previous years 

         Non tax penalties 

 Expenses and Losses on Non Financial Investments 

     Insufficiency of  estimated tax 

     Industrial Property Expenses 

     Disposals 

     Operating exchange differences (Note 25) 

     Other 

2020

 269 710 
 6 347 

 175 690 

 3 895 

 170 299 

 7 873 

 3 937 

-

 

 1 456 209 

 2 282 

 38 860 

 -

 64 585 

-

 2 911 

 77 409 

 632 412 

2021

 516 777 
 8 274 

 1 151 971 

 143 440 

 430 204

 76 685 

 140 

 53 

 

 3 902 181 

 

 424 

 246 418 

 561 

 

 -   

 8 468 

  2 053  

 1 094 323 

 222 391 
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Taxes reflect environmental levies, property, and similar taxes.

The amount of € 1 150 thousand under Donations, includes a donation of € 1 000 
thousand to Universidade Católica Portuguesa within the scope of a protocol signed 
between this university and the José de Mello Group. 

25. EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATES
 
The amount of foreign exchange differences recognised in the income statement is 
shown in the following table:

No changes have occurred in the operating currency or in relation to the parent 
company or any of its foreign businesses.

Favourable and unfavourable exchange rate differences arise exclusively from the 
depreciation of the US Dollar against the Euro resulting from the acquisition of raw 
materials.

 

26. INCREASE/DECREASE IN FAIR VALUE
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2021, this caption was made up as follows:

This variation results from the adjustment to the Fair Value of the Compensation Fund 
of the work and participation of Ynvisible Interactive Inc.

 Exchange gains included in: 

    Other Income and gains 

       Other operating exchange differences (Note 23) 

       Other operating exchange differences (Note 24) 

 

 Exchange gains included in: 

    Other expenses and losses 

2020

 

 

 6 908 

 6 908 

 77 409 

 77 409

 

2021

 

 

 314 185 

 314 185 

 1 094 323 

 1 094 323 

 

Balance P&L

2021 2020

Balance P&L

 Financial assets 

    Other financial assets -

-

 (96 570)

 (96 570)

-

-

 154 008 

 154 008 
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27.  EXPENSES/REVERSAL OF DEPRECIATION AND 
AMORTISATION

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

28. INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Depreciation and Amortisation expenses 

    Investment property (Note 7) 

    Tangible fixed assets (Note 6) 

    Intangible assets (Note 8) 

    Goodwill

 

 Impairment of depreciable inventories 

    Tangible fixed assets (Note 6) 

2020

 

 46 589 

 17 910 170 

 1 102 763 

 361 

 77 892 
 19 137 776 

 19 059 883

 77 892 

2021

 

 45 603 

 18 922 565 

 2 420 564 

 260 125 

-
 21 648 857 

 21 648 857 

 -  

 Interest earned 
    On deposits 
 Other similar income 
    Raw material hedging swap 

    Other 

2020

 
 287 566 

 
 742 558 

 79 
 1 030 202 

2021

 
 170 855 

 
 7 112 
 715 

 178 682 

29. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Interest paid 

    Loans 

    Others

 Other financing expenses and losses 

    Commissions 

    Stamp duty on loans 

    Expenses with bank guarantees 

    Raw material hedging swap 

    Other 

2020

 

 3 903 493 

-

 

 127 482 

 3 676 

 2 050 

 6 174 

 54 010 

 4 096 886 

2021

 

 5 955 616 

 15 406 

 

 125 609 

 10 916 

 29 856 

 9 439 313 

 69 570 

 15 646 286 
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30. INCOME TAX
 
Expenses (income) for current taxes are as follows:

Deferred and current income tax on the items debited or credited to equity are shown 
in the following table:

 Current tax 

    Corporate Income Tax for the year 

 Deferred tax 

     Originated and subject to reversal for temporary 
differences 

 

 

2020

 

 5 677 085 

 5 677 085 

 

 (2 332 299)

 (2 332 299)

 3 344 785 

2021

 

 9 046 108 

 9 046 108 

 

 (3 671 160)

 (3 671 160)

 5 374 948 

 Deferred tax 

    Net gains on the revaluation of tangible fixed assets 

        Recognised in revaluation reserves 

    CO2 licences subsidy 

2020

 

 

 2 964 439 

 195 425 

 3 159 864 

2021

 

 

 2 933 625 

 704 618 

 3 638 243 
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The amounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet for 
each period shown according to each type of temporary difference and concerning 
each type of non-used tax losses and credit for non-used taxes are as follows:

2021

 59 939 

 535 359 
 1 287 467 

-
 541 549 

 3 744 005 

 670 805 
 275 618 

 7 114 742 

2021

 (47 024)

 (98 370)
 (461 435)

 (231 550)
 (103 540)
 3 183 289 

-
 1 075 618 
 3 316 987 

2021

-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

2020

 106 963 

 633 729 
 1 878 666 

 231 550 
 1 162 956 
 1 822 945 

 240 651 

 6 077 460 

2020

 25 054 

 42 013 
 (145 343)

 (1 370)
 (433 954)
 1 884 501 

 71 527 
 837 475 

 2 279 903 

2020

-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

 Deferred tax assets 

 Temporary differences: 

    Other 

 Tax benefits 

       Post employment benefits - healthcare 

       Post employment benefits - pensions 

       Provisions not considered for tax purposes 

       Impairments on inventories 

       Impairment of depreciable assets 

       Tax losses 

       Others 

Balance sheet items Profit & Loss items Other Equity items

2021

 2 933 625 

 704 618 
-

 305 573 
 3 943 816 

2021

 (30 814)

-
 (16 217)

 (307 142)
 (354 173)

2021

-

 509 192 
-

-
 509 192 

2020

 2 964 439 

 195 425 
-

 
 15 347 

 3 175 211 

2020

 (18 525)

-
-

 (33 871)
 (52 396)

2020

-

 (243 637)
-

-
 (243 637)

 Deferred tax liabilities 

 Temporary differences: 

    Transition adjustments to SNC 

       Revaluation of investment property 

       CO2 licence subsidy (Note 17.3) 

       Others 

 Other 

       Re-assessment of tangible fixed assets 

Balance sheet items Profit & Loss items Other Equity items
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31. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

31.1 - Environmental matters - Greenhouse gas emissions
The European Emissions Trading (ETC) is a mechanism for regulating greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emissions in activities that are responsible for about 45% of GHG emissions in 
the European Union, such as the burning of fuels, mineral oil refining, metallurgy, clinker, 
lime and glass production, ceramics, pulp and paper, chemicals, and aviation.

The global GHG emission limit set at EU level has been reduced over time. In the fourth 
period of implementation of the ETS (2021-2030) a linear reduction factor of 2.2% was 
introduced in the total amount of available emission allowances (instead of 1.74% in 
the period 2013-2020).

An emission allowance allows the emission of one ton of carbon dioxide (CO2) equivalent 
during a certain period. Obtaining emission allowances is, as a rule, done through an 
auction. The revenues generated by the auctions of emission allowances awarded to 
Portugal are part of the Environmental Fund.

Part of the emission allowances is allocated free of charge, as a transitional rule of this 
regime, namely, to avoid “carbon leakage” – the transfer of production to countries 
where the restrictions on emissions are less stringent. The production of electricity 
and the capture, transport and storage of carbon dioxide are excluded from the free 
allocation of emission allowances. The allocation of free emission allowances has been 
reduced and, with the exception of urban heating, will be eliminated by 2030.

During the year, emphasis was placed on environmental legal compliance, and on 
completing the process of awarding CO2 emission allowances for the period 2021-2030 
and identifying actions for environmental improvement. 

Bondalti Chemicals was granted 50 411 allowances for the 2021 financial year.

At this date, the APA - Portuguese Environment Agency - has not yet published the 
number of allowances that will be awarded in the remaining years (2022 2030) within 
the scope of the fourth period of implementation of the CELE.

 Allowances 

2021

 50 411 
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Changes in CO2 ton relating to greenhouse gas emission allowances during the year 
were as follows:

Emissions in 2021 totalled 28 380 tons, which in terms of allowances, gives rise to a 
positive differential in relation to the previous years of 67 536 ton, which will remain 
available for future use.

31.2 - Bank guarantees
As of 31 December 2021, the Company had liabilities for guarantees given, as follows:

The guarantee given to APA had to be readjusted due to new requirements.

The amount of € 74 282 corresponds to the guarantee required by the Municipal 
Council of Loulé concerning infrastructures for the real estate development located in 
Betunes, subject to Licence nr. 2/2002.

The two guarantees from the potential client Canal Isabel II were required to Bondalti 
Chemicals for public tenders for the supply of chlorine.

The surety bonds assumed this year are as follows:

Description Opening balance Attribution and 
purchase Disposals Transfers Used 

(Note 23)
Fair value 
(Note 17.3) Closing Balance

 Balance at 1 January 2021 

    Tons 

    Tons 

    Amount 

    Amount 

 Balance at 1 January 2020 

 

 53 578 

 109 457 

 961 668 

 2 044 498 

 

 52 053 

 4 037 251 

 

 -

 (32 000)

 -   

 (784 320)

 (9 715)

 3 007 

 (293)

 147 403 

 

 (28 380)

 (26 886)

 (2 268 545)

 (948 572)

 

-

-

 67 536 

  53 578 

 810 789 

 502 658 

 3 540 869 

 961 668 

 

Entities Amount

2021 2020

Amount

 Agência Portuguesa do Ambiente 

 Direcção Geral Energia e Geologia 

 

 Alfândega do Porto de Leixões, Freixieiro e Aveiro 

 Autoridad Portuaria de Vigo 

 Canal Isabel II, S.A. 

 Câmara Municipal de Loulé 

 Xunta de Galicia 

 Canal Isabel II, S.A. 

 21 122 

 14 964 

 369 721 

-

 24 500 

 136 553 

 74 282 

 6 500 

 91 800 

-

 14 964 

 181 026 

 91 780 

-

-

 74 282 

-

-

Entities Amount

2021 2020

Amount

 Autoridade Tributária e Aduaneira - Alfandega Aveiro 

 AdP - Águas de Portugal Serv Ambientais 

 Autoridade Tributária e Aduaneira - Alfandega Aveiro 

 

 Autoridade Tributária e Aduaneira - Alfandega Aveiro 

 200 000 

 36 343 

 75 000 

 386 343 

 75 000 

-

-

-

-

-
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31.3 Leases
31.3.1. Operating leases - the Group as lessee:
Operating leases in which the Group is lessee concern vehicles and premises. These 
leases do not have purchase option clauses.

The total amount of minimum future lease payments for operating leases assuming 
that existing ones will not be rescinded or renewed, is as follows:

31.4 – Other Guarantees, Securities and Mortgages
Pursuant to the loan agreement entered by Bondalti Chemicals in June 2019, to secure 
compliance with obligations thereof, the company entered mortgage on land property, 
pledge on equipment, pledge on bank accounts, pledge on shares of Elnosa and 
Bondalti Cantabria share capital, shares, and partners’ loans of Miralcalis and assigned 
claims and partners’ loans as security.

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
No events have occurred since 31 December 2021 to this date that are not already 
adjusted and/or disclosed in the financial statements.

The effects of the current situation (at the time of conclusion of this report) with the 
recent invasion of Ukraine led to a huge rise in the prices of raw materials, with a special 
impact on the prices of electricity, natural gas, and fuel. Despite the great uncertainty 
regarding the duration, extent and impact associated with this circumstance, there is 
no prospect, as of today, of a break in the production and distribution chains that could 
jeopardize Bondalti’s ability to operate in its markets.
 
These financial statements were approved for issuing by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors

João Maria Guimarães José de Mello

André Cabral Côrte-Real de Albuquerque

João Jorge Gonçalves Fernandes Fugas

João Pedro Ribeiro de Azevedo Coutinho

João Pedro Stilwell Rocha e Melo

Luís Augusto Nesbitt Rebelo da Silva

Luís Henrique Marcelino Alves Delgado

Vasco Luís José de Mello

The Statutory Auditor

Sónia Cristina José Camacho

Oeiras, 26 April 2022

 Up to 1 year 

 Over 1 year and up to 5 years 

 Over five years and up to 10 years 

2020

 2 744 148 

 9 538 147 

 13 789 653 

 26 071 948 

2021

 3 417 894 

 13 671 574 

 20 840 578 

 37 930 046 
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